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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Good afternoon.

          3  I am Helen Diane Foster, Chair of the Parks

          4  Committee.  We have a couple of Committee meetings

          5  going on so members will be coming in and out. But

          6  we are going to start our Hearing on the City's Plan

          7  New York City 2030 Sustainability Goal, and

          8  Commissioner Kavanagh is going to testify, and Jeff

          9  are you?  Commissioner Kavanagh and Jeff Kay from

         10  the Mayor's Office, we'll start with you two.

         11                 MR. KAY:  Good afternoon, my name is

         12  Jeff Kay and I'm the Director of the Mayor's Office

         13  of Operations, which oversees the Mayor's Office of

         14  Long Term Planning and Sustainability.  Thank you

         15  for the opportunity to testify today on the Mayor's

         16  2030 Goal of having a park within a ten-minute walk

         17  of every New Yorker.  I'm pleased to be joined today

         18  here with First Deputy Commissioner Liam Kavanagh,

         19  and under the Parks' leadership and strong

         20  commitment of the Parks Department staff, open space

         21  and recreation has been an integral part of the work

         22  on PlaNYC.

         23                 Liam will go through and explain some

         24  of the challenges facing open space development and

         25  the feedback and the recommendations that we're
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          2  hearing from the community on how to achieve our

          3  goal, but first I'd like to provide a background on

          4  the specific goal and the principles for including

          5  it within the overall PlaNYC initiative.

          6                 Under the Bloomberg Administration,

          7  ensuring appropriate parks and open space

          8  development has been a critical component of each

          9  rezoning and neighborhood study.  Whether it be the

         10  28 acre park on the Greenpoint Williamsburg

         11  waterfront or the reconstruction of nearly one- and-

         12  a- half miles of the High Line of West Chelsea for

         13  open space, the Administration, agencies, community,

         14  and the Council have recognized the importance of

         15  providing a healthy environment to increase open and

         16  recreation space.  Therefore, it's only appropriate

         17  that as the City takes on the effort of studying its

         18  long term land use and development policies, open

         19  space also takes a significant place as one of the

         20  ten identified goals.

         21                 Currently, New York's Park and

         22  Recreation system is one of our great civic

         23  treasures.  With almost 29,000 acres of City- owned

         24  parkland, and thousands more acres in the Gateway

         25  National Recreation Area, the City has almost 25
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          2  percent of New York's landmass dedicated to open

          3  space.  Within the park system, we have nearly 700

          4  ball fields, 990 parks- run playgrounds throughout

          5  the City, more than 40 rec centers and over 60

          6  pools. But as with our other nine goals, we need to

          7  make sure this is a resource that has the capacity

          8  to support the City's projected growth by 900,000

          9  people over the next 24 years.  To put that into

         10  perspective, that's like adding the cities of Boston

         11  and Miami into the five boroughs.

         12                 From now forward, each New Yorker is

         13  breaking our previous population record.  With

         14  almost every aspect of population growth demanding

         15  more space, it becomes increasingly important to

         16  preserve our ability to provide open space over time

         17  without sacrificing land and funding required for

         18  other City priorities, like housing, jobs, and

         19  municipal services.  This goal represents this

         20  objective of planning proactively for the Citywide

         21  provision of open space and a balanced environment

         22  to live, work and visit. Undertaking this planning

         23  now will allow our parks system to remain one of our

         24  City's best resources.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  Good afternoon Chair Foster.  I am Liam Kavanagh,

          3  First Deputy Parks Commissioner and I'm joined today

          4  by Michael Schnall our Director of Government

          5  Relations.  On behalf of Parks Commissioner Adrian

          6  Benepe, I thank you for the opportunity to discuss

          7  the goal laid out by Mayor Bloomberg to ensure that

          8  all New Yorkers live with a ten minute walk of a

          9  park.  As Jeff just noted in his opening remarks,

         10  New York boasts one of the largest and most

         11  extensive Municipal park systems in the Country, one

         12  that is seen as a model by park planners and

         13  managers throughout the world.  And New York has a

         14  great tradition of forward and innovative planning

         15  when it comes to parks and open space.  The 1811

         16  Manhattan Street Grid Plan included public square

         17  like Tompkins, Union, and Madison squares which

         18  survived to this day as popular parks and focal

         19  points of vibrant neighborhoods.

         20                 Frederick Law Olmsted and Calvert

         21  Vaux invented American landscape architecture in

         22  Central Park, and some think perfected it in

         23  Prospect Park, which combined brilliant design with

         24  open space and democratic values.  And they also

         25  created the worlds first greenways in Brooklyn.  The
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          2  Bronx Park Plan of the 1880s preserved what is now

          3  the heart of the borough's great park system. And

          4  the playground movement at the turn of the 20th

          5  century saw parks and recreation in terms of public

          6  health and social development, ideas that still

          7  resonate today.

          8                 But despite those accomplishments,

          9  when Robert Moses assumed command of the unified

         10  park system in 1934, there were only 114 playgrounds

         11  to serve seven million people, a population that was

         12  far more concentrated than it is today.  The New

         13  Deal sparked a great era of park development and

         14  left an enduring legacy of pools, beaches, zoos and

         15  parkways, that in many ways define New York to this

         16  day.  It also gave us over 700 new iconic

         17  playgrounds in which those of us who grew up in the

         18  City were first introduced to society.  But even

         19  this period of massive expansion did not

         20  systematically address neighborhood recreation

         21  needs, nor did it anticipate how the City would

         22  continue to grow and evolve or meet the very

         23  different recreation needs of 21st century New York.

         24                 We are now in the midst of another

         25  great phase of park development and expansion.  In
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          2  the last five years, more than $1.1 billion have

          3  been spent on building new and renovating existing

          4  parks in all five boroughs and another $700 million

          5  will be invested in just the next two years.

          6  Projects like the Green Point Williamsburg

          7  waterfront, mentioned earlier, Fresh Kills, the High

          8  Line, the Elmhurst gas tank's in Queens, the South

          9  Bronx Greenway are well underway and will be among

         10  the signal accomplishments of this Administration.

         11                 The challenge that the Mayor has set

         12  is very different from just creating a great new

         13  park or parks, and in many ways is more daunting.

         14  As large as the system is, parks are not evenly

         15  distributed throughout the entire City, we're not

         16  fully accounted for in the rush to develop some of

         17  our older neighborhoods and barely exist at all in

         18  the City's emerging new residential communities.

         19                 To illustrate the issue, standard

         20  planning guidelines call for two- and- a- half acres

         21  of open space per 1,000 residents, a measure we now

         22  surpass on a Citywide basis.  Even with no increase

         23  in the size of the system, in 2030 when the

         24  population exceeds nine million, there will still be

         25  over three acres of parkland for every thousand
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          2  residents, but when you look more closely, you see

          3  Brooklyn with only 1.8 acres per thousand residents

          4  and Manhattan at 1.5.  And even in the Bronx which

          5  has 5 acres per thousand residents, most of the

          6  parkland is concentrated in the northern part of the

          7  borough, while residents in the South Bronx

          8  experience much lower ratios.

          9                 The Mayor's challenge has forced us

         10  to look at parks and opens space on a much smaller

         11  and targeted scale and the results are interesting.

         12  Of the 188 neighborhoods and the City planning

         13  population models, 51 have less than 1.5 acres, not

         14  the two and a half acre planning standard of open

         15  space per thousand residents.  And in 2030, 59

         16  neighborhoods are projected to fall into that

         17  category as well.  Another measure of park access is

         18  capacity and we use a standard of one playground for

         19  1,250 children under 14 years of age.  From that

         20  perspective, 97 neighborhoods have more than 1,250

         21  children per playground today and 112 are projected

         22  to exceed that standard by 2030.  Currently 34

         23  neighborhoods have more than 2,500 children per

         24  playground, a number that will grow to 41 in 2030 if

         25  nothing is done to expand capacity.
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          2                 Now there are obvious hurdles to

          3  meeting this challenge.  There is a shrinking pool

          4  of land available for acquisition.  Building permits

          5  are at an all time high and development is booming

          6  in all corners in the City.  And even when land is

          7  available, acquisition costs are at an all time

          8  high. Remediation standards are more stringent than

          9  they were generations ago and remediation costs are

         10  also skyrocketing.  The public acquisition and

         11  review process is time consuming and sometimes very

         12  cumbersome.  And we can no longer fill in the

         13  rivers, which was a traditional method of dealing

         14  with growth, nor can we trade in wetlands for active

         15  recreation space.  Even with all these constraints,

         16  we're still optimistic about meeting the Mayor's

         17  challenge and it seems that New Yorkers agree.

         18                 In December 2006, the Mayor

         19  challenged all New Yorkers in five boroughs to share

         20  their ideas and visions for 21st century New York

         21  City.  The Mayor's Office of Operations conducted

         22  major public outreach sessions to solicit ideas, get

         23  feedback, and build consensus from a Citywide

         24  conversation.

         25                 From January 18th to the 30th, the
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          2  Mayor's Office conducted six community leader

          3  meetings in the Bronx, Brooklyn, Queens, Staten

          4  Island, Upper Manhattan and Lower Manhattan.  The

          5  purpose of these meetings was to inform the leaders

          6  of the City about PlaNYC and to receive their

          7  feedback.  Their suggestions and comments were

          8  collected during small group discussion sessions.

          9  Overall feedback was positive on the PlaNYC goals

         10  and community leaders widely affirmed the importance

         11  of the goals and provided concrete suggestions for

         12  their achievement.

         13                 PlaNYC has also received lots of

         14  comments on its ten publicly stated goals since the

         15  Mayor's speech on December 12th, 2006.  The goal of

         16  increasing Park accessibility received almost 25

         17  percent of the comments, ranking second overall.

         18  The goal clearly resonated with a large number of

         19  New Yorkers and some of the comments that we

         20  received including things like, quickly, it's a

         21  wonderful ideal and achievable goal, this is a great

         22  idea, and the best idea ever.  So we're kind of

         23  pleased with that response.  Many comments were

         24  supportive and a significant number acknowledged a

         25  variety of priorities that needed to be addressed in
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          2  planning for open space.

          3                 PlaNYC is an exciting and challenging

          4  initiative. It's a unique opportunity to consider

          5  the City's future in a comprehensive way.  At Parks,

          6  we're excited at the prospect of building a park

          7  system that will not only be more accessible to all

          8  New Yorkers but will allow us to expand the fitness,

          9  greening and community development agendas that have

         10  been our guiding principles over the last five

         11  years.  We look forward to continuing this dialogue

         12  begun by the Mayor with the Council, other elected

         13  officials, park advocates, and the millions of

         14  people who use and cherish New York's great park

         15  system.  And I'll be happy to answer any questions

         16  at this time.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  I

         18  also think its a nice goal.  I don't know, well

         19  we'll see.  Hopefully we'll all be around in 2030 to

         20  see it but just a couple of questions.  It was a

         21  nice overview but it didn't really go into how we

         22  plan to obtain this ten minute walk, so let's start

         23  with like basics.  What are we constituting as a

         24  park?  And when we say a ten minute walk, how are we

         25  defining, I know ten minutes is ten minutes, but how
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          2  are we defining that in terms of getting to a park?

          3  What are we calling an open space, those type of

          4  things?

          5                 MR. KAY:  That's certainly a good

          6  question in terms of open space.  One of the thing I

          7  kept hearing, and I was in Staten Island last night

          8  at one of these open sessions and, I'm sorry, sure,

          9  I was at Staten Island last night and one of the big

         10  questions was we have a bunch of parks, but I need

         11  it to be a little closer but you can't just build

         12  large parks, we don't need another large park, so

         13  the key is to have open space.  Now is open space

         14  little small patches of green streets, or is it open

         15  plaza's or just playgrounds, or parks, and I think

         16  it's a combination of that.  I wouldn't suggest that

         17  we meet the goal of just by having more strips of

         18  green streets that provide the trees and the

         19  greenery that Parks supports, but it does need to be

         20  open space and what I would say, pedestrian plaza in

         21  order to provide more area for people to walk around

         22  and move around I think that's just as important.

         23  It might be one way to meet that goal.  The ten

         24  minute walk, I'm going to look to Liam, I think that

         25  goal we used was a quarter mile, could that be the
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          2  case?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  We were originally looking at a quarter- mile,

          5  assuming that that was a reasonable distance for a

          6  mother or another care- giver to walk with children.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And assuming we

          8  could do a quarter- mile in ten minutes?

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  Well, actually it's not that bad. We've actually

         11  gone out and timed some walks from specific points

         12  to parks and playgrounds.  So we're looking for

         13  reasonable standard that a neighborhood person could

         14  get to a place where they can either participate in

         15  active recreation or have some kind of experience

         16  out in the open in the green space.

         17                 We have not defined it yet and

         18  actually it would be sort of presumptuous of me to

         19  define it right now because we're still listening to

         20  the public.  The Mayor has not made final decision

         21  on the shape of the plan but what we have been

         22  hearing is that we may have to look to a more

         23  flexible definition as Jeff described of what is a

         24  park and an open space.  A lot of the growth and

         25  population over the next 24 years is actually going
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          2  to be in the older adult category, and you may not

          3  need lots of children's playgrounds to meet their

          4  needs but you might need more greenways to provide

          5  places for biking and walking and that kind of

          6  exercise and recreation.  We've heard from people

          7  about using streets differently than they are now,

          8  and envisioning them as sites for flexible but

          9  active recreation.  It doesn't necessarily have to

         10  be the traditional park and playground model

         11  operated by the Parks Department.  There are lots of

         12  good ideas floating around out there and we're

         13  looking to capture as many of them as possible to

         14  meet this goal.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay, so we're

         16  kind of figuring it out as we go along.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Does the

         20  Department and/or Administration already have a

         21  comprehensive view of what open space, parks,

         22  playgrounds are currently within the City available

         23  now.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         25  Yes, we have looked very carefully at the system,
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          2  not only the properties and the facilities that the

          3  Parks Department manages but what are available

          4  through the Federal Park System, the State Park

          5  System, and even other organizations like NYCHA that

          6  does have open space and does have active recreation

          7  facilities.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And I know

          9  you're defining this as you go along, but are you

         10  looking, one of the conversations we've often had

         11  has to do with school playgrounds and a lot of times

         12  they are closer or smack-dab in the community and

         13  they're either not open after school, on weekends,

         14  or haven't had the maintenance, and we talk about

         15  maintenance a lot of times.  Are these the type of

         16  plans you're looking into in terms of creating this

         17  ten minute open space plan.

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         19  That definitely could be one of the components.

         20  We've heard about school playgrounds from the

         21  Council, many of your colleagues, including

         22  yourself, and at the listening sessions that I

         23  attended that specifically came up in a couple of

         24  instances.  And in general, I think in order to be

         25  successful, we're going to have to be more flexible
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          2  and more creative in how we use properties that the

          3  City already owns, whether it's Parks Department

          4  property, community gardens, or other municipal

          5  facilities, perhaps like schoolyards.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And I would

          7  assume that, and this probably directed more towards

          8  you Jeff, that the Mayor is looking in this plan to

          9  deal with transportation issues, for example, this

         10  Randall's Island, the sweetheart deal, the problem

         11  with it for the rest of the community is access,

         12  which is tons of open space and could be probably

         13  less than ten minutes for a bulk of New Yorkers that

         14  just now can not access it.

         15                 MR. KAY:  To bring up that particular

         16  issue which I think in fact there is conversation

         17  about how to improve the transportation access

         18  there, overall we're looking to improve as part of

         19  this goal transportation access in general, whether

         20  it's enhancing transit capacity in order to get

         21  people to where they need to be in order to enhance

         22  development.  Where exactly is this development

         23  going to occur, hopefully it should be transit

         24  oriented development.  And development and the new

         25  people that come in should be around those
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          2  transportation areas which will make it easier to

          3  get to the parks and the open space.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Was there a, oh,

          5  sorry Dennis, I'm sorry, we've been joined by

          6  Council Member Gallagher from Queens.

          7                 Was there, in the survey process, did

          8  you look to see currently how many New Yorkers live

          9  within ten minutes of, oh, yes.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11  We've made those estimates.  It's hard to come up

         12  with those hard and fast numbers because you're

         13  making assumptions about population patterns over

         14  geographic areas but you have to do that in order to

         15  come up with some assumptions.  And yes, we do have

         16  estimates that there are two million New Yorkers in

         17  2030 that will not be living within a ten minute

         18  walk of a playground or an active recreation space.

         19                 MR. KAY:  If I may, if you look

         20  currently in the brochure that you have, we did have

         21  a map of playground capacity by neighborhood based

         22  in the year 2000, which did look at what would be in

         23  an adequate playground access, and it did map it out

         24  here. And I think that's an important piece, it's

         25  something to look at. And it's what we use to show
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          2  that by 2030 nearly 100 neighborhoods will need more

          3  playgrounds.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And so how is

          5  that going to be done in terms of we can't make

          6  land, so we have to be very wise in terms of our

          7  development and how we do things.  You know what

          8  pops into my head, of course, is Yankee Stadium and

          9  Gateway, that had we combined them, put Yankee

         10  Stadium to the south, we would have been able to

         11  have tons more open space for an area that needs it

         12  as opposed to two huge development projects being

         13  built at the same time increasing the amount of

         14  trucks and eventually trees will be replaced but as

         15  we talk about open space and trees and stuff, it

         16  doesn't seem that, this plan sounds nice but it

         17  doesn't seem that we are putting the well being of

         18  New Yorkers, especially in what I will call

         19  different economic class neighborhood, for example

         20  the stadium didn't go on the west side but we're

         21  building a stadium right adjacent to a stadium in a

         22  neighborhood that's already densely populated, has

         23  asthma rates, so when we look at our economic

         24  development we need to stop putting the cart before

         25  the horse and definitely look for open space first.
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          2  Is this part of the thinking now because we know it

          3  has not been?

          4                 MR. KAY:  That's one of the

          5  interesting things about this entire process and why

          6  we embarked on this Sustainability Plan is we were

          7  really trying to take a look at the City's land use

          8  and the best way to use it in the next 20- some-

          9  odd- years and really looked at sustainability.

         10  What this plan does, as we've had enormous

         11  development over the last five years, is takes a

         12  look at the City's services that supports that

         13  development and besides just the parks but our

         14  infrastructure with it's transportation energy and

         15  our other infrastructure.  It really provides a

         16  guideline that when you are thinking about

         17  development, don't forget about the City's

         18  infrastructure and don't forget you need to provide

         19  this open park space.

         20                 And I think that this guide and these

         21  goals that we put forward in how we achieve these

         22  goals should be used and will be used within our

         23  administration for the next two and a half to three

         24  years, but beyond that and I think that's what more

         25  important, and you pointed out that at the beginning

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  of, you know 2030's a long way off.

          3                 One of the key things that we need to

          4  do is when we come up with this goal and come up

          5  with how we're going to achieve that goal, is how do

          6  we cement that?  And how do we cement this challenge

          7  beyond when we're here?  Beyond the next two and a

          8  half years or three years, only three years at this

          9  point to the end of the Administration, and that

         10  above all is a key challenge.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Well I think, oh

         12  sorry --

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14  I just want to add, one of the nice aspects of this

         15  plan is how well the different goals relate to each

         16  other.  Jeff mentioned how transportation obviously

         17  can support things like parks and other development.

         18  Brown fields, which is a specific goal, is obviously

         19  going to be a place where they're going to look to

         20  create more public space or open space or recreation

         21  space.  Barretto Point is a great example. It was a

         22  brown field a few years ago and now it's a great new

         23  park. Housing, one of the main components of the

         24  Plan is addressing the housing needs of this new

         25  population and if there are creative ways of doing
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          2  that, if you look at a place like Arverne and out in

          3  the Rockaway where there is a very large private

          4  residential development going on which is also

          5  creating active and passive recreation space for

          6  that new community.  So there are interrelationships

          7  like that that are current throughout the plan and

          8  we think are going to help us achieve the long --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I think that --

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11   -- Term goals.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right, I think

         13  that it would have to in order for it to be a plan

         14  and in order for it to work.

         15                 I know Council Member Gallagher has

         16  questions.  My concern is, and I've said it often,

         17  is that we have to make sure that when we look at

         18  this plan, or when we look to develop parks and

         19  invest in parks it's an equal distribution because

         20  right now when you look, that whole self-

         21  sustaining, which to me is almost synonymous with

         22  privatization and how do you get a self- sustaining

         23  park in a community where people are barely able to

         24  sustain themselves and if this is another model to

         25  generate park and waterfront land in affluent areas,
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          2  it becomes a problem and you can see it with your

          3  eyes.  If you walk up the West Side Highways, you

          4  get closer to Washington Heights, you see more

          5  garbage, more smushed rats (phonetic), less

          6  attention then you do when you're walking in the

          7  60's and 70's.  And we are sending, whether it's

          8  intended or not, a persons perception is their

          9  reality, and we're sending perception that there are

         10  two tiers to how we manage, maintain and govern

         11  parks which hopefully in this plan as we look

         12  forward and we talk about economic development that

         13  it will be fairly represented across the City, and I

         14  won't be able to see a difference when I'm on 60th

         15  and Riverside or when I'm on 158th and Riverside,

         16  which is a big difference.

         17                 Council Member Gallagher.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Thank you

         19  Madame Chair. Good afternoon Commissioner and Mr.

         20  Kay.  Thank you.  I apologize for coming a little

         21  late, I had another hearing and then after that I

         22  had a meeting at the Department of Health, so I

         23  haven't had an opportunity to look through your

         24  testimony so I apologize for that. But I do have a

         25  couple of questions and if it was covered, please
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          2  excuse me.

          3                 I love the idea of everybody being

          4  able to live within a ten minute walk of a park, I

          5  guess who wouldn't?  I think it's a great idea, I

          6  happen to be fortunate to live within a ten minute

          7  walk of a park and it's something that I enjoy

          8  doing.  I appreciate the fact that with the help of

          9  our Borough President who's with us today and

         10  Commissioner Benepe, and especially with the Mayor

         11  that we have taken the Elmhurst Gas Tank Site and

         12  we're soon going to see that as a park, but the

         13  problem that I have and I'm sure most of my

         14  colleagues will feel the same, is with

         15  overdevelopment and people building on just about

         16  any parcel that they can, any open space that can be

         17  converted is being converted into housing or some

         18  sort of development and while this plan is great,

         19  I've asked the Mayor's Office whether or not there's

         20  any financial backing to it now that would help us

         21  purchase some properties that we're otherwise going

         22  to lose to development where we could have a good

         23  park area.  So I ask again, is there any plans now

         24  that allows for funding of the purchasing of parks,

         25  and if not is there going to be a long- term goal to
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          2  put money aside in the budget for this type of

          3  purchase, and if it is a long- term goal, how many

          4  years out are we looking?

          5                 MR. KAY:  One of the key concerns

          6  that runs through all of us, talking specifically

          7  about that is money and all of our goals whether

          8  it's the parks or our transportation are all very

          9  very aggressive goals and it would be nice like you

         10  said to have ten minutes to a park but do we have

         11  the money?  I think that's the key challenges.  And

         12  one of the things that we're wrestling with now is

         13  coming up with new and creative ways to achieve

         14  these goals, whether it's City money, private money,

         15  other money, I think we need to look as expansive as

         16  we can and when we do come out with the plan that

         17  does outline the initiatives, I think we need to

         18  clearly outline how much it is going to cost and how

         19  we're going to get that money because otherwise

         20  you're right, it would be nice to be within ten

         21  minutes of a park, but we do need to clearly state

         22  exactly how we're going to pay for this stuff and if

         23  it is City money we're going to have to show where

         24  it's going to be.  Can it all occur within the first

         25  year?  Of course it can't all occur within the first
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          2  year, but we need to make sure that we hold our feet

          3  to the fire and very clearly say you need to have

          4  this amount by this date, this amount by this date,

          5  and if we can put it within our budget and the

          6  budget allows us to do that, we should do that. So

          7  if we set a target for future Council and

          8  Administration to put in their budget, then we

          9  should do that as well.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  But it's

         11  safe to say that at this point in the early phases

         12  that there's no money --

         13                 MR. KAY:  At this point --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  --

         15  Assigned to it?

         16                 MR. KAY:  -- We're just looking at

         17  the different initiatives.  But we can not come back

         18  to you, I don't believe we can, to you or the public

         19  and say we should do this and not show where the

         20  money is going to come from.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  And I

         22  think that's important because I think what happens

         23  with the issuing of this plan, I've had a number of

         24  folks that have come up to me and said oh look, this

         25  is great, you have this plan where by the year 2030
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          2  everybody's going to live within ten minutes of park

          3  and here this parcel over here could be purchased

          4  and this could be purchased and this could be

          5  purchased and then telling them that I'm sorry that

          6  there's no money or no allocation in the budget and

          7  believe me, and believe me I understand that we want

          8  to try to do things in new and creative ways as you

          9  say, certainly we did that at the Elmhurst Gas Tank

         10  Site, but I think that the quicker we can try to put

         11  funds in a budget maybe then we could save some

         12  locations and save some park area.  I know in my

         13  community in Maspeth there's a large push for the

         14  purchasing of an old church, St. Xavier's Church,

         15  and to renovate the church as a community center and

         16  have a park area around it which would be a nice

         17  thing to do and it's difficult for me to explain to

         18  community residents after speaking with the Mayor's

         19  Office and the Parks Department that there's just no

         20  funding available for that purchase from a private

         21  developer.  So I think it's incumbent upon the

         22  elected officials and the Mayor's Office to really

         23  look for some long- term plan of putting some money

         24  aside especially now when we're looking at surpluses

         25  where we can stop and purchase some of these
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          2  properties that we're losing to developers and that

          3  are overdeveloping our community which will mean

          4  there will be more people living in an area that is

          5  more than ten minutes away from walking distance

          6  from a park.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  I

          8  think that that's a good point because even in

          9  different neighborhoods people have been able to

         10  identify land that would be perfect for open space

         11  and that's why I said earlier we've got to make sure

         12  in terms of when we do this economic development and

         13  housing and all that, we don't put the cart before

         14  the horse.

         15                 That having been said, thank you very

         16  much gentlemen.  We've heard about the plan in

         17  theory.  We look forward to hearing concretely

         18  what's going to happen to make it work. Thank you.

         19                 We have been joined by Helen

         20  Marshall, the Borough President of Queens.  Borough

         21  President Marshall, please, feel free.  Thank you.

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL:  I'll

         23  thank you for giving me this time to speak because

         24  we've got a really rough schedule.  I thank you of

         25  course for holding this hearing and providing an
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          2  opportunity to voice concerns about safety in our

          3  parks.  Today I will focus my testimony on the need

          4  to increase park safety in Queens, Queens' largest

          5  park, Flushing Meadows Corona Park, and I'm going to

          6  concentrate on that.  Of course we have concerns

          7  with out parks --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Council Member,

          9  let me just stop you, I'll let you testify but the

         10  Park and Safety aspect of the hearing we had to

         11  postpone because we were going to do a joint hearing

         12  with public safety, so you're here, so please free

         13  to testify, but the portion of the hearing is just

         14  on the Sustainability Plan.

         15                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL:  Oh, all

         16  right.  Well, I'm sorry, okay, great.

         17                 I have lived near this park since

         18  1957, when I moved from my beloved Bronx, and

         19  represented the area for 19 years as a member of the

         20  Assembly and the City Council before becoming

         21  Borough President.

         22                 During the last two months of '06, a

         23  spree of violent crimes occurred in Flushing Meadows

         24  Corona Park.  One man was murdered, another beaten

         25  so badly that he was comatose, and by the way, we
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          2  checked at the hospital, he still has not come out

          3  if his coma.  The two homeless teenagers who

          4  admitted committing a rash of robberies in November

          5  and December that caused those tragedies along with

          6  other robberies have been caught.  Yet the safety

          7  concern remains.  We still remember the young woman

          8  who was brutally gang whipped a couple of years ago

          9  and saved by a dog which was wonderful, a police

         10  dog.

         11                 Flushing Meadows Coronia Park is the

         12  backyard of many of our residents.  It provides much

         13  needed space for recreation, cooking out, family

         14  bonding, and on most weekends all 1,255 acres of the

         15  parkland are being used.  This means there are

         16  literally tens- of- thousands of people who expect

         17  that their loved ones and other possessions will be

         18  safe.  I understand that for special events

         19  additional police personnel are deployed.  Shea

         20  Stadium has its own special detail and Patrol

         21  Borough Queens North gets addition police officers

         22  for many of the cultural events that take place

         23  there, along with the extraordinary security

         24  precautions taken during the US Open Tournament.

         25  Yet, unlike Central Park that has its own percent,

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Flushing Meadows Corona Park sits at the Eastern

          3  Corner of the 110 Percent, one of the most densely

          4  populated areas of our borough.  It is also a

          5  neighbor to one of our largest immigrant communities

          6  in the borough, in the City really.  This percent

          7  also contains Liffrak City Queens Center Mall, the

          8  busiest mall per spare foot of any in the Country.

          9                 The police response to safety issues

         10  in that park has always been that more police will

         11  be put on patrol there. Unfortunately, this means

         12  the Commanding Officer of the 110th Percent has to

         13  deploy desperately needed officers in his command to

         14  a necessary park detail, decreasing coverage for

         15  residents and slowing response time on street crime.

         16  And I would just add that after addressing some of

         17  the new recruits in the park at the Hall of Science,

         18  we drove through the park to get to Queens College

         19  and I saw exactly three people and those three

         20  people, one was a man by himself and the other was a

         21  couple, they could have screamed their heads off,

         22  gunshots could have gone off and nobody would have

         23  known that they were there or that they were being

         24  assaulted.

         25                 Much as has been made over the amount
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          2  of crime in the park, as compared to other parks.

          3  Between April and December 2006, according to

          4  available Compstat Data, 56 felonies were committed

          5  in Flushing Meadows Park.  By way of comparison,

          6  Central Park had 79 felonies which is also very bad,

          7  and that is with a percent within its environs.

          8  More troubling is that Flushing Meadows had more

          9  violent crimes against persons than did any other

         10  park, including Central Park.

         11                 As a matter of fact, more than 20

         12  percent of all felonies committed in parks in the

         13  City of New York took place in Flushing Meadows

         14  Corona Park.

         15                 Where in the park does someone seek

         16  safe haven or report a crime?  Crime victims either

         17  have to call 911 if they have a cell phone which was

         18  very helpful in one instance, or leave the park and

         19  make their way out to the precinct house.

         20                 Unlike smaller parks, this park

         21  cannot be gaited. Therefore, it is accessible 24

         22  hours a day yet another reason to have a police

         23  facility in the park.

         24                 I'm also disturbed that our PEP

         25  officers who are in the park are reportedly assigned
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          2  to use a converted bathroom as their headquarters.

          3  I think we can do better than that in our City.

          4                 A police precinct with a battery of

          5  officers dedicated to patrolling the extensive

          6  trails and lawns of the park is needed.  On many

          7  evenings three or the borough's premier cultural

          8  institutions, The Hall of Science, Queens Museum of

          9  Art, and Queens Theatre in the Park have events and

         10  programs that take place.  And in nine months the

         11  City's largest recreational facility will open in

         12  the park.  People from all over the City, indeed the

         13  world, come to this park to enjoy and partake in its

         14  activities. Surely a consistent police presence

         15  without the necessity for a special detail makes

         16  perfect sense to secure our citizens as they enjoy

         17  our City.

         18                 Madame Chair and Members of the Parks

         19  and Recreation committee, I call upon you to join me

         20  in asking the Mayor for a permanent police precinct

         21  within Flushing Meadows Corona Park.  Its staffing

         22  must be independent of the 110th Precinct so its

         23  personnel need not be diminished.  The officers

         24  would be deployed as a constant presence with

         25  additional officers are brought in for special
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          2  occasions (sic).  It should have its own commanding

          3  officer who would compile Compstat numbers as all

          4  other precincts do.

          5                 For many years I've called for a

          6  permanent police presence in the park.

          7  Unfortunately that it's heinous crimes to get the

          8  necessary publicity to put pressure on this issue.

          9  I believe the time is now to finally give the

         10  residents and tourists who use this world- class

         11  park the same protection afforded to those who use

         12  Central Park.  It is not only a matter of fairness,

         13  we have seen it is also a matter of life and death.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you --

         16                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL:  If you

         17  have any questions I'd be --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I'm going to

         19  keep this on record so that we can put it for when

         20  we have the hearing jointly with public safety.

         21  Have you gotten any response from the Mayor in terms

         22  of a precinct in this park?

         23                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL:  Right

         24  now there is no plans to put a precinct in the park.

         25    Over the years, both in the City Council and in
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          2  the Assembly I appealed to, and I also live right

          3  near the park, and we thought with the oncoming of

          4  the US Open and the wonderful cultural institutions

          5  that we have, the Hall of Science is unique in the

          6  Country, that we would have more protection.  And by

          7  the way, much of the crime occurs at the end of the

          8  parking lot for the Hall of Science.  We have school

          9  children coming there all year round, including the

         10  summer time when they're in day- camps and so one

         11  from all over the City.  Those children need to be

         12  protected. And it's right back there where there

         13  like a, that's the den, there a little less there in

         14  the Winter time but not his winter, this Winter

         15  we've had real problems there.  I appreciate you

         16  hearing me. I would not have testified today had I

         17  known that but that --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  That's fine. --

         19                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL:  -- You

         20  let us know when you do call that meeting.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Absolutely.

         22                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL:  -- Thank

         23  you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Just a minute,

         25  Council Member Gallagher has a question.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Madam

          3  Borough President, I just wanted to say thank you

          4  for coming here today and certainly I also want to

          5  thank you for some of the work that you've done

          6  throughout my District with the parks and the

          7  upgrade of the parks, in particular the funding you

          8  put in for Principaid Park (phonetic) and also for

          9  Victory Field which will soon be remained in honor

         10  of Former Judge and Assemblyman Fred Schmidt, so we

         11  certainly appreciate it.  And I also wanted to thank

         12  you for your testimony. And I think that you will

         13  recall when we had the recent hearings for the

         14  community boards and all the civic and community

         15  groups came in, the common theme amongst everyone of

         16  the community boards in Queens was the fact that

         17  there was a needed for more police protection

         18  throughout the each of the community boards and that

         19  the staffing levels have significantly gone done --

         20                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL:  About 25

         21  percent.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  -- Since

         23  the institutions the former Safe --

         24                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL:  --

         25  Statewide, Citywide.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  City, Safe

          3  Streets.  And I think that that's something that I

          4  look forward to having a joint hearing with the

          5  Public Safety Committee on, not only in parks, but

          6  how it affects the policing in the communities.

          7  Certainly the number of PEP Officers should be

          8  increased, the Council put funding in for the

          9  increasing of PEP Officers, each year the Parks

         10  Department comes and testifies that in essence that

         11  with all the fees and the summonses that are issued

         12  by the PEP officers to combat quality of life issues

         13  within the parks, they actually pay for themselves.

         14  So we really should be doing more to put more money

         15  into the budget to hire more PEP Officers and to

         16  have them stationed in some of the bigger parks

         17  throughout the boroughs.  And certainly stationing

         18  more until you can get the new police precinct in

         19  Flushing Meadows Corona Park and Juniper Park and

         20  Forest Park, among others in Queens would be a good

         21  idea, so thank you for your testimony and I hope to

         22  join with us in the fight to try to see if we could

         23  get more PEP Officers patrolling our parks and as a

         24  budget priority.

         25                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARSHALL:  You have
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          2  my support.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

          4  much.

          5                 Our next panel Micaela Birmingham,

          6  did I say it right?  Oh I did, oh good, from New

          7  Yorkers for Parks and Drew Becher from New York

          8  Restoration Project.

          9                 Just give it to the Sergeant, he'll,

         10  oh, that's for me, thank you.  Oh good, oh, my mics

         11  still on.  It started, thanks.

         12                 MS. BIRMINGHAM:  Good afternoon, my

         13  name is Micaela Birmingham and I'm Director of

         14  Planning at New Yorkers for Parks, the only

         15  independent watchdog for all the City's parks,

         16  beaches and playgrounds.  For nearly 100 years, New

         17  Yorkers for Parks has worked to ensure greener,

         18  safer, cleaner parks for all New Yorkers.

         19                 We commend the administration's goal

         20  of ensuring that all New Yorkers live within a ten

         21  minute walk of a park.  As we become home to the

         22  next one million people in the City, the real

         23  challenge will be to ensure that every New Yorker is

         24  within walking distance of parks that are green,

         25  safe, clean and offer a variety of recreational
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          2  opportunities.  Moreover, the City's commitment to

          3  increase access to parks must be paired with the

          4  commitment to fund the park system to guarantee

          5  quality parks in  every neighborhood.

          6                 Due to insufficient parks funding,

          7  over 40 percent of neighborhood parks still receive

          8  failing grades on a Report Card on Parks which is an

          9  award winning survey of neighborhood parks

         10  throughout the five boroughs.  We urge the City to

         11  consider the following recommendations for making a

         12  meaningful commitment to parks a reality.

         13                 Create provisions requiring

         14  developers to make contributions to park development

         15  and maintenance in and around their project sites in

         16  return for incentives.

         17                 Continue the efforts to unlock school

         18  playgrounds for after school use.  The Trust for

         19  Public Land and the Department of Education's City

         20  Spaces program, which is a successful public private

         21  partnership, are working to renovate and open 25

         22  schoolyards across the City and provide a model for

         23  how future enhancements can be made.

         24                 Examine access to and capacity of

         25  different types of parks, open spaces and
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          2  recreational facilities and set targets for growth.

          3  For example, the city of London sets standards for

          4  the number of athletic fields for every 1,000

          5  residents.

          6                 Speaking of athletic fields, these

          7  consistently score poorly on our Report Card.  To

          8  address this, the City should create a comprehensive

          9  plan for athletic field renovations across the City

         10  to ensure every Community as access to a quality

         11  field and is equally served by natural green space.

         12  In keeping with the sustainability agenda, this plan

         13  should thoroughly consider the implications of

         14  synthetic turf with respect to global warming, air

         15  quality, and water pollution, especially the impacts

         16  of synthetic turf on the Urban Heat Island effect.

         17                 And finally, secure an additional $10

         18  million for the City's forestry team.  We applaud

         19  the Parks Department goal of increasing tree canopy

         20  from 24 percent to 30 percent.  However, currently

         21  the agency has only 14 foresters for 2.5 million

         22  trees. This investment would greatly improve the

         23  state of park trees which are pruned on an emergency

         24  basis only.  This results in many dead and hanging

         25  limbs that are in desperate need of care.
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          2                 We look forward to working with the

          3  City Council and the City to ensure that every park

          4  is green, clean and safe today and in the Year 2030.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 MR. BECHER:  Good afternoon, sorry,

          7  I'm Drew Becher, the Executive Director of the New

          8  York Restoration Project.  NYRP is most grateful for

          9  this opportunity to show our enthusiasm for PlaNYC

         10  2030 and join you in finding more creative ways to

         11  make New York cleaner and greener than ever.

         12                 As you know, Bette Midler founded New

         13  York Restoration Project in the belief that clean

         14  and green neighborhoods are fundamental to the

         15  quality of life and that everyone, especially those

         16  living in impoverished and densely populated urban

         17  areas deserves access to nature and to vibrant well

         18  designed open spaces.  We applaud the City Council

         19  Parks Committee's success in advocating public parks

         20  and your commitment to increasing open space in New

         21  York City.  I know we can work together to create a

         22  better tomorrow than today and meet the goals

         23  established in PlaNYC 2030.

         24                 For years, NYRP has been cleaning and

         25  greening New York City.  In 1999, we purchased 57
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          2  community gardens that were threatened with the sale

          3  to developers by the City.  We are now making

          4  capital improvements to all of these spaces, which

          5  can be used as playgrounds and community gathering

          6  spaces.  In fact, we raised over $650,000 just this

          7  year to transform three of our gardens in Brooklyn,

          8  Queens, and Manhattan into outdoor learning gardens

          9  for children.

         10                 With our own team of urban planners,

         11  master gardeners, horticulturists, community

         12  development professionals, and environmental

         13  educators, NYRP is reclaiming and restoring under-

         14  resource parks, community gardens, and waterfronts

         15  in some of the City's most economically

         16  disadvantaged neighborhoods.  However, we need to

         17  consider more innovative planning and zoning reforms

         18  such as impact fees, landscape ordinances, and slope

         19  and tree overlays to make these ideas that are laid

         20  out in the 2030 Plan a reality.  And I would like to

         21  add that a lot of other communities around the

         22  Country, these innovative reforms have happened and

         23  they're working really successfully.  The City also

         24  needs to establish a policy on park access.  Many of

         25  our parks are virtually unreachable due to roadways
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          2  and highways which can make even finding your

          3  neighborhood park a daunting task.  This would help

          4  with the access of being within a ten minute walk of

          5  neighborhood parks and playgrounds.

          6                 Finally, in partnership with the

          7  Department of Parks and Recreations, NYRP is

          8  planning a major initiative to plant one million

          9  trees in New York City over the next decade.  This

         10  project will dramatically improve New York City's

         11  green infrastructure by cultivating and stewarding

         12  the urban forest through planting, maintenance, and

         13  active management of the tree canopy.  We're

         14  extremely excited about this initiative, which I

         15  would like to add will bring hundreds of millions of

         16  dollars of private money for the greening and urban

         17  forestry in New York City, to working with you, the

         18  City on this implementation.

         19                 I would just like to thank on behalf

         20  of Bette Midler and all of us at NYRP.  Thank you so

         21  much for your time and attention and we look really

         22  really forward to making this reality. These are

         23  some great goals laid out in the 2030 Plan and we

         24  applaud the Administration and the City Council for

         25  taking this on.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          3                 Council Member Gallagher.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Ms.

          5  Birmingham thank you for your testimony.  Certainly

          6  I believe the schoolyards should be open and

          7  actually in a lot of cases they should be green too,

          8  and the Department of Education should look at that.

          9  I also agree with your testimony with regards for

         10  funding for the forestry team.  Certainly a ten-year

         11  span where we can get trees pruned is too long, but

         12  I have some differences with some of the things in

         13  your testimony.  One, I would like to talk about the

         14  synthetic grass fields and I am a staunch supporter

         15  and advocate for these fields.  I've seen money

         16  being put into the budget for years where they would

         17  come in and they would renovate these multi- use

         18  fields and within six months they were in worse

         19  condition than before they were renovating them

         20  because of the multi- use where you have football

         21  sometimes playing and soccer playing and also

         22  baseball playing.  So the synthetic fields are

         23  really giving the kids in my community an

         24  opportunity to play all year round on a great

         25  facility and sports is something that we should

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  encourage our children to involve themselves in.  So

          3  I support those types of fields and I hope that the

          4  Parks Department continues to set that forward.

          5  Fiscally it's a responsible thing to do, in the long

          6  term it saves us money.  It's significantly less

          7  maintenance.  They're ready to play on after major

          8  rain and storms within about 15 minutes to 20

          9  minutes because of their draining capacity.  So

         10  those synthetic fields are absolutely superb in my

         11  mind.  In addition, I see that you say that over 40

         12  percent of neighborhood parks still receive a

         13  failing grade on our Report Card on parks.  I don't

         14  know that that number is fair to the Parks

         15  Department and anybody who comes to these committee

         16  meetings knows that there's a lot of times I'm

         17  highly critical of the Parks Department.

         18                 But I remember reading your Report

         19  Card and your analysis on the 30th Council District

         20  and you must have traveled throughout the District

         21  or the community to find the photo of something that

         22  looked horrible to put in the brochure, instead of

         23  highlighting some of the most beautiful things in

         24  all the renovations that have been done in the parks

         25  and it seems sometimes, and I understand that you
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          2  want to advocate for funding, for maintenance and

          3  I'm supportive of that, but sometimes it's not in

          4  the best interest to talk the negative when there's

          5  so many positive things that are going on.

          6                 I remember after having almost all of

          7  Juniper Valley Park redone with the lower ball

          8  fields, the upper play area, everything was done,

          9  and the next thing you do, you open a New Yorkers

         10  for Parks brochure and you see litter on the thing

         11  that could have happened just about anywhere.  So I

         12  don't know that the 40 percent number is accurate or

         13  is it fair to the Parks Department and judging from

         14  what I've seen in past brochures from the New

         15  Yorkers for Parks, I don't know that it is, so I ask

         16  that when you evaluate these parks, sit down with

         17  the Council Members.  You want to come into my

         18  District and look at my parks in the area which I'm

         19  very proud of the money that we put into them, come

         20  tour it with me.  I'll show you some of the

         21  positives so that we don't accentuate only the

         22  negatives.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  We've been

         24  joined by Council Member Addabbo from Queens.  I

         25  don't know if you have any response or --
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          2                 MS. BIRMINGHAM:  Sure I'll just

          3  address some of the points that you brought up.

          4  With respect to the synthetic turf, you may or may

          5  not have seen the report that New Yorkers for Parks

          6  has published on the topic and we're not suggesting

          7  that all synthetic turf is bad, we're just

          8  suggesting that taking a Citywide look at the trend

          9  in synthetic turf because as I understand it, New

         10  York City is the leader nationally in purchasing of

         11  synthetic turf.

         12                 With respect to the environmental

         13  situation, locally and globally, just having a

         14  comprehensive plan and policy for implementation of

         15  this we think would be a good idea and we're not

         16  saying that it's necessarily wrong in every

         17  instance, so just be clear on that.

         18                 And with respect to our Report Card,

         19  it's an award winning study that's been done several

         20  years in a row so we have data that is collected

         21  over several instances and we do not purposely

         22  single out areas where there are obvious maintenance

         23  issues but that is open to interpretation.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  And I'm

         25  going to interpret it that that's what New Yorkers
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          2  for Parks has done in my District and quite frankly

          3  in the past and I have a good relationship with many

          4  people from New Yorkers for Parks but I still find

          5  that survey to be insulting to the Council Member

          6  and to the Parks Department.  I don't know that a 40

          7  percent rate is fair. I would think that that number

          8  should be significantly lower.

          9                 MS. BIRMINGHAM:  Well I'd be happy to

         10  share our new report that is coming out next month

         11  with you and if you'd like our team of researches

         12  could meet with you just to talk a little bit more

         13  about the survey methods that we do use and perhaps

         14  you have some input on that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  And I'll

         16  give them a tour of the nice positive parts about

         17  the parks in my District.

         18                 MS. BIRMINGHAM:  Great, we welcome

         19  it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Just a quick

         21  question, were either New Yorkers for Parks or New

         22  York Restoration contacted or surveyed by the

         23  Administration with this plan?

         24                 MS. BIRMINGHAM:  Yes we were.

         25                 MR. BECHER:  Yes we were.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  That's good to

          3  know.  And Drew you mentioned other Cities that have

          4  such a plan, outside of Chicago, is there another

          5  City that you can tell me about?

          6                 MR. BECHER:  I'm not quite sure if

          7  it's a total sustainability plan like New York has

          8  but ones that are similar are basically

          9  Indianapolis, Denver, Portland, Seattle, Chicago,

         10  Boston I know actually has one in draft, believe it

         11  or not Atlanta has one, Mayor Shirley Coleman

         12  (phonetic), she's doing a fantastic job there, and

         13  those are the ones that I know that actually have

         14  something similar to us being proposed here, but

         15  that's the sort of big thing and then it's when the

         16  rubber hits the road where it becomes and issue and

         17  that's the report that I handed you, is how do you

         18  make some of this stuff a reality, what are the

         19  tools --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Right.

         21                 MR. BECHER:  -- In order to make that

         22  a reality.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Great, thank

         24  you.

         25                 Council Member Addabbo, anything?
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 Our next panel is Andy Stone, Trust

          4  for Public Land and Melissa McDonald, Stuyvesant

          5  Cove Park.

          6                 MR. STONE:  Good afternoon --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  No, you're on,

          8  you're good.

          9                 MR. STONE:  Good afternoon, my name

         10  is Andy Stone and I'm the New York City Director of

         11  the Trust for Public Land, a national nonprofit

         12  organization that preserves public open space and

         13  creates new parks throughout the United States.

         14  We're grateful for the opportunity to testify at the

         15  hearing today.

         16                 Our New York City program is TPLs

         17  biggest urban program.  Since 1978 we've supported

         18  the preservation, creation and stewardship of over

         19  250 community gardens, parks and playgrounds. We've

         20  also acquired over 380 acres of privately owned land

         21  which we have conveyed to City and State parks

         22  agencies in New York City.

         23                 TPL applauds the 2030 goal of a park

         24  within a ten minute walk of every New Yorker.  This

         25  kind of commitment is consistent with the stated
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          2  goal of our national Parks for People Program.  Our

          3  goal is assuring that every urban resident have

          4  access to a nearby park or playground.

          5                 In New York City for the past 30

          6  years, we've promoted this vision in a variety of

          7  ways, including visioning and acquisition work to

          8  provide public access to natural areas and shoreline

          9  around Jamaica Bay in the Harbor Herons areas of

         10  Northwest Staten Island and along the East River in

         11  Williamsburg and Greenpoint.

         12                 Also by providing leadership, along

         13  with New York restoration project and the effort to

         14  preserve community gardens and we've acquired 62

         15  gardens that were threatened with extinction during

         16  the Giuliani Administration.

         17                 In addition, since 1996 we have been

         18  engaged in what is now our largest program.  Forging

         19  partnerships with the City and with neighborhood and

         20  Citywide nonprofits to transform vacant or poorly

         21  utilized land into new community playgrounds.  This

         22  program, called City Spaces, began as a partnership

         23  with both City Parks and Recreation and the

         24  Department of Education.  But increasingly we have

         25  focused on the area of greatest need, the
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          2  transformation of Department of Educations barren

          3  asphalt schoolyards into multipurpose playgrounds.

          4                 In November 2004, Trust for Public

          5  Land, the Mayor and the Chancellor announced a

          6  partnership to create 25 new City Spaces sites over

          7  five years.  Out of the total budget of $25 million

          8  for this program, TPL committed to raising one third

          9  with the City Department of Education providing the

         10  other two thirds.

         11                 To date Trust for Public Land has

         12  raised 6.7 million of the 8.3 million we committed

         13  to and we are on schedule to complete 25 sites by

         14  the end of 2009.

         15                 We have now completed, going back to

         16  1996, we've completed 19 City Spaces playgrounds

         17  including seven under the 25 site Department of Ed

         18  partnership and we have seven more sites scheduled

         19  to open by the end of 2007.  Based on our experience

         20  we strongly recommend the City Spaces model as a

         21  means to address the lack of parks and playgrounds

         22  in many City neighborhoods.  With a vastly

         23  diminished supply of City owned vacant lots, and

         24  even a vastly diminished supply of privately owned

         25  vacant lots, transforming barren schoolyards into
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          2  recreational resources for the school and the

          3  community is clearly an essential strategy.

          4                 From our extensive experience there

          5  are several elements that create a successful City

          6  Spaces school community playground.

          7                 First, an extended participatory

          8  design process that truly engages students, school

          9  staff and the community, and creates a sense of

         10  ownership among all parties.

         11                 Second, strong commitment from a

         12  staffed after school program provider based at the

         13  school.  Simply stated, it takes a true community

         14  school to ensure that a transformed playground will

         15  be used and actively used and cared for outside of

         16  school hours.

         17                 Lastly, what's required is a

         18  principal and custodial staff committed to

         19  maintaining an improved schoolyard and sharing it

         20  with the broader community.

         21                 We believe that expanding our City

         22  Spaces program would be an effective strategy for

         23  helping the City achieve the 2030 goal of a park

         24  within a ten minute walk of every New Yorker and we

         25  have been discussing this possibility with the
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          2  Department of Education since the beginning of the

          3  year.  We look forward to continuing our work to

          4  improve the quality of life for all New Yorkers.

          5                 MS. McDONALD:  Good afternoon.  My

          6  name is Melissa McDonald and I am the Park Manager

          7  for Stuyvesant Cove Park.  We applaud the goal of

          8  all New Yorkers living within a ten minute walk of a

          9  park, however, we believe it is important to put

         10  more specifics around the goal.  Not all parks are

         11  created equal and not all parks receive the same

         12  level of funding for the long- term care and

         13  maintenance of parks once they have been created.

         14  It is critical that the city develops a uniform

         15  funding mechanism for the long- term care and

         16  maintenance of all parks in the City and to not

         17  leave it up to the private sector to supply the

         18  funding for that goal.

         19                 Stuyvesant Cover Park is a unique

         20  private public park located on the East River

         21  between 18th Street and 23rd Street. The land is

         22  owned by the City and is under the jurisdiction of

         23  the Economical Development Corporation but is

         24  maintained by Solar One, a not- for- profit

         25  environmental organization.  It is a public open
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          2  space owned by the City and opened to the public

          3  from dawn till about 11:00 p.m.

          4                 This public- private relationship

          5  brings both good and bad aspects to the park.

          6  Having a private organization manage it in this case

          7  means better maintenance, attention to detail, a

          8  larger and diverse group of volunteers, and the

          9  ability to raise money specifically for this park.

         10  On the other hand, as an open space it is not a park

         11  under the jurisdiction of the Parks Department and

         12  we are not eligible for funding from the Parks

         13  Department, whose budget is already stretched too

         14  thin, or from New York City Parks Foundation or

         15  Partnership for Parks, whose guidelines preclude

         16  funding since we are not a Parks Department Park.

         17  While we receive funding from the EDC in the form of

         18  a matching grant, it is only for a limited time

         19  period.  Once that time limit has passed, there are

         20  no guarantees that the funding stream will continue.

         21    It is only through our perseverance that we have

         22  been able to secure a minimal level of private

         23  funding.  We have also been able to maintain the

         24  park through building a robot volunteer program.

         25                 Since Stuyvesant Cove Park is not
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          2  fenced in, we do not have a way of closing the park

          3  after hours and quality of life issues remain a

          4  major problem throughout the year.  We have a good

          5  relationship with the 13th Precinct and Manhattan

          6  Community Board 6 in combatting these issues in the

          7  park, but more needs to be done.  In addition, our

          8  park is located in a secluded area of Manhattan,

          9  East of the FDR, where few people venture at night

         10  which attracts others who have used the location for

         11  sleeping and graffiti, and more recently and

         12  dangerously as a home for an arsonist who has struck

         13  twice since last November setting trash cans and

         14  benches on fire.  Since we are not a Parks

         15  Department Park, we are not eligible for the PEP

         16  program that provide security for parks.

         17                 Since Stuyvesant Cove is a beautiful,

         18  sustainable, native plant park with unobstructed

         19  views of the East River, Brooklyn and Queens, it is

         20  a respite from the noise and congestion of the City.

         21    Many in the community volunteer countless hours

         22  tending to the park and we have even stated to offer

         23  classes and internships to local high school

         24  students on horticulture and environmental issues.

         25  But it's a drain on our limited resources that have
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          2  such damage, such as burned out trash cans, homeless

          3  tents, and drug use in our park, especially since we

          4  are also trying to establish this native plant park

          5  as an outdoor classroom.

          6                 As it acts on the 2030 Plan for

          7  Parks, we urge the City to develop a mechanism for

          8  funding the long-term care and maintenance of all

          9  parks in the City and not to distinguish between

         10  Parks Department parks and non- Parks Department

         11  parks.  It is critical that all parks receive

         12  sufficient funds to ensure they are safe, clean and

         13  well maintained indefinitely.  It is not enough

         14  simply to set a goal that all New Yorkers live

         15  within a ten minute walk of a park unless those

         16  parks are safe and well maintained and at an equal

         17  level across the City for all to enjoy.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 Just one quick question.  Mr. Stone

         22  was the Trust for Public Land?

         23                 MR. STONE: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes, okay.  That

         25  was it. Thank you very much.
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          2                 There being no more testimony, this

          3  hearing is adjourned.  Thank you.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 2:20 p.m.)
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